#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAE	L D.	BARI	KSD.	ALE
--------	------	------	------	-----

**APPELLANT** 

V.

NO. 2009-KA-1847-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

**BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT** 

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Attala County, Mississippi

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS Erin E. Pridgen, MS Bar No.
301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Michael D. Barksdale

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAEL D. BARKSDALE

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2009-KA-1847-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE J.N.O.V. AS THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S GUILTY VERDICT.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AS THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Attala County Circuit Court in Attala County, Mississippi. An Attala County grand jury indicted Michael D. Brown, Michael D. Barksdale and Jermaine Alston on two counts of burglary of a building other than a dwelling. [R.E. 5]. Prior to trial, Mr. Brown and Mr. Barksdale's attorneys petitioned the court to sever Mr. Alston from the case. [R.E. 7] Mr. Brown and Mr. Barksdale requested to stand trial together but informed the court their defense rested on showing Mr. Alston was the reason Mr. Barksdale and Mr. Brown mistakenly believed they had

permission to legally take the items from the building. [Tr. 3-4] The trial court denied the motion to sever and the case proceeded with all defendants joined in the same case. [Tr. 6]

On the day of trial, Mr. Alston did not appear, so the court proceeded to hear only the case that was brought against Mr. Brown and Mr. Barksdale. [Tr. 12] At the conclusion of the trial, the jury returned guilty verdicts as to both of Mr. Barksdale's counts of burglary. [R.E. 10] As to Count I, the court sentenced him to serve seven (7) years with the Mississippi Department of Corrections (MDOC). [R.E. 11-13] Mr. Barksdale was sentenced to serve seven (7) years on Count II but, after serving one day, he is sentenced to post-release supervision for six (6) years and three hundred sixty-four (364) days. The first five (5) years of post-release supervision will be supervised and the remaining one (1) year and three hundred sixty-four (364) days will be unsupervised. Mr. Barksdale was also ordered to pay restitution, court costs and fees and assessments. The sentence in Count I is to run consecutive to the sentence in County II. Mr. Alston is currently incarcerated with MDOC.

Following the trial, Mr. Barksdale filed his Motion for JNOV or, in the alternate, Motion for a New Trial. [R.E. 14] The court denied this motion and Mr. Barksdale timely noticed this appeal. [R.E. 18]

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

One day, Jermaine Alston (Alston) came to Michael Brown's home and talked with Brown and Michael Barksdale (Barksdale)<sup>1</sup>. [Tr. 117] The men discussed hauling off some old items from a home owned by Doyle Dean Rone. [Tr. 118] Rone's parents previously lived in the house but the house had been vacant since the early 1990's, after his parents died. [Tr. 63] Brown and Barksdale

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Barksdale did not testify at trial, however, many of the facts come from the testimony of other witnesses presented at trial.

did not know Rone. However, following Alston's conversation, Brown and Barksdale believed Alston had permission from Rone to go to Rone's home and haul items away. Alston represented to the men that he had a previous working relationship with Rone and had been allowed to fish on Rone's property in the past. Barksdale and Brown agreed to accompany their friend, Alston, to help him with the hauling.

Alston drove Brown and Barksdale to Rone's property on two occasions. [Tr. 80, 117] When the men first arrived, they noticed a pond, a house, some sheds, and a butane tank. [Tr. 118] There was no one at the house and it appeared that the house had been vacant for a while. The men took old items, such as metal detectors, food processors, a saddle. [Tr. 68-69, 88, 120-21] Among other things, Alston removed the wiring from the refrigerator and deep freezer<sup>2</sup>.

Unbeknownst to the men, Rone had experienced several break-ins on his property and had installed a motion-sensor camera near the porch of his house. [Tr. 63] He checked the camera periodically and on his last trip to visit the house, he discovered the camera had recorded three men hauling off items from his home. [Tr. 66] He took the photographs to law enforcement and they began an investigation. [Tr. 67] Rone told the police that he did not recognize any of the men in the photographs<sup>3</sup>. [Tr. 73]

Police soon discovered that the three men in the photographs were Alston, Brown and Barksdale. [Tr. 80] They learned that Alston drove the men to Rone's property. [Tr. 92] When questioned, Alston told the police that he knew Rone because he had previously fished on Rone's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Rone also reported to police that he home had been vandalized, in addition to the stolen items. However, he admitted that the house was left unattended for several days to weeks at a time. Tr. 75

property. Just as he told Brown and Barksdale, he also told officers that he had previously worked for Rone. Rone denied having ever known Alston or granting him permission to be on his property.

[Tr. 76]

Barksdale voluntarily spoke with police. [Tr. 86] He retrieved some of the missing items for the police. He did not tell the police that he had permission to be on the property. However, he informed the police that he did not break into the home because the doors of the home were already open on the house when the men arrived.

The police arrested all three men. Before trial, Brown and Barksdale filed a motion to sever their case from Alston's case. [R.E. 7] The trial court denied that motion, explaining that Alston would be in the best position to file that motion but, since Alston did not request to be severed, the court would deny the motion. [Tr. 6] At the start of trial, however, Alston had absconded from justice and Brown and Barksdale were tried together. [Tr. 112] Barksdale was convicted of both counts of burglary and sentenced to seven years on each count. [R.E. 12]

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Michael Barksdale went to Doyle Dean Rone's property to assist Jermaine Alston with removing some of the property from the house. The house had not been occupied for some time and Barksdale believed Alston had permission from Rone to take the items from the home. Unbeknownst to Barksdale, Rone had not given Alston permission to take the items. In reality, Rone had experienced several break-ins at the house and had set up a surveillance photo camera to capture images at the home. The camera took still photos that showed Barksdale, Michael Brown and Alston removing items from Rone's property. The camera however, did not record Barksdale's intent on that day.

At trial, the State was required to show that Barksdale had the requisite intent to commit burglary of a building other than a dwelling. The prosecution did not provide sufficient evidence of the required intent of the alleged crime. In addition, based on the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the court should have granted Barksdale's request for a new trial.

#### **ARGUMENTS**

# I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE JNOV AS THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S GUILTY VERDICT.

#### A. Standard of Review

The Court reviews a denial of a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (J.N.O.V) in the light most favorable to the State. *McClain v. State*, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993). The Court must accept as true the evidence that supports the verdict and will only reverse the trial court's decision when the trial court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial. *McDowell v. State*, 813 So. 2d 694, 697 (¶8) (Miss. 2002).

This Court must consider "whether the evidence shows 'beyond a reasonable doubt that [the] accused committed the act charged, and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed'." *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 843 (¶16) (Miss. 2005) (citing *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 315, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979). Where the evidence fails to meet this test, the evidence is insufficient to support the guilty verdict. *Id*.

#### B. The State Did Not Prove Barksdale Intended to Steal Rone's property

Michael Barksdale's belief that he had permission to assist Alston with the removal of the items from Rone's property was founded on what appeared to be Alston's reasonable assertions that Rone had given Alston permission. Alston led Barksdale and Brown to believe that he had a

relationship with Doyle Rone. Just as Alston told the police, Brown and Barksdale were led to believe that Alston had previously fished on Rone's property, and that Alston had previously worked for Rone by cutting some trees. <sup>4</sup> Based on these statements, Barksdale's actions do not show he had the requisite intent to steal Rone's property.

Barksdale had little reason to question Alston's claims because Alston's assertions were reasonable and supported by surrounding circumstances. It is unclear how Alston led Barksdale and Brown to believe that Rone had granted permission to take things from the vacant house, but the appearance of the items were old and unused. [Tr. 129-30] Consistent with this assertion, Barksdale and Brown arrived at a property that visibly appeared to have not been lived in for a very long time. [Tr. 118]

Alston also represented to the men that he knew Rone based on a prior working relationship and that Rone had previously allowed Alston to come to his property to fish. Consistent with these assertions, Alston was the one who drove the men to the property. [Tr. 125] He knew the location of the house and this would indicate that he had previously been on the property. Also, the men saw a pond near the house Rone owned. [Tr.118] This would support Alston's claims that, on prior occasions, Rone had allowed Alston to fish on the property.

In order for the State to prove that Barksdale burglarized Rone's property, it was required to show that Barksdale, either by himself or in concert with others, (1) broke and entered into Rone's property (2) with the felonious *intent to steal* items from within. *Faust v. State*, 221 Miss. 668, 676-77, 74 So. 2d 817, 819 (Miss. 1954) (Emphasis added). Intent is usually proven by showing the acts of the person involved at the time in question, and by showing the circumstances surrounding the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Alston later told police during questioning that he apologized for this actions.

incident. *Johnson v. State*, 831 So. 2d 1171, 1173-74 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). The State failed to prove, either through his actions or by the circumstances surrounding the event, that Barksdale intended to steal Rone's property.

"'It is hornbook criminal law that before a criminal conviction may stand, the State must prove each element of the offense.' *Neal v. State*, 451 So. 2d 743, 757 (Miss. 1984). Due Process requires that the State prove each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U. S. 307, 324 99 S. Ct. 2781, 2791, 61 L.Ed.2d 560, 576-77 (1979). *See also Carlson v. State*, 597 So. 2d 657, 659 (Miss. 1992)." *Washington v. State*, 645 So. 2d 915, 918 (Miss. 1994). In order to sustain a conviction, there must be sufficient evidence in the record to establish each and every element of the crime of burglary. *See Fisher v. State*, 481 So. 2d 203, 211 (Miss. 1985).

In this case, the State failed to prove the requisite element of *intent*. Barksdale's case should be reversed and rendered for this reason. In the alternative, Barksdale seeks relief because his guilty verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

# II. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AS THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

#### A. Standard of Review

The Mississippi Supreme Court has compared the standard of review of motions for new trials as being similar in nature to the Court sitting as a thirteenth juror. *Ross v. State*, 954 So. 2d 968, 1016 (¶127) (Miss. 2007). "A finding that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence indicates that the Court disagrees with the jury's resolution of conflicting evidence and requires a new trial." *Id*.

The Court will order a new trial and allow the evidence to be placed before a second jury if the first jury's guilty verdict was based on "extremely weak or tenuous evidence, even where that evidence is sufficient to withstand a motion for a directed verdict." *Id.* (citing *Lambert v. State*, 462 So. 2d 308, 322 (Miss. 1984) (Lee, J., *dissenting*). The Court will only disturb the jury's verdict when the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that it would cause an unconscionable injustice if the verdict were allowed to stand. *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 844 (¶18) (Miss. 2005).

# B. Barksdale's Conviction is Against the Overwhelming Weight of the Evidence and Requires a New Trial

Barksdale was among three of the men that were captured on the surveillance photo camera, removing items from Rone's house. He never denied that he was one of the men in the photo. He never denied that he was removing property from the building. However, the overwhelming weight of the evidence suggests Barksdale had a reasonable belief that he was legally on the property based on the understanding that Alston had been granted permission to be there.

First, Barksdale was recorded on the camera surveillance photos, removing items from a visibly abandoned house, in the broad daylight. [Tr. 120] Barksdale did not travel to the home under cover of night when it would have been less likely to identify him. He was not wearing camouflaging attire that would make it less likely to identify him. By all appearances of the photographic image, Barksdale was on the property to assist Alston in what he and Brown believed to be a legitimate and legal purpose.

Second, Rone's house had been left vacant for years. [Tr. 63] This was noticeable when the men first arrived on the property. The house's appearance was just as one would expect to find,

given that Alston led the men to believe he had been given permission to remove items from the home because it was no longer being used. Although Rone testified that the door to the home was left closed, Barksdale and Brown found the door open on the days in question. [Tr. 65, 83, 129]. Even the police noted that the door was left unlocked when they returned to the home several days after the reported incident. [Tr. 83] Had Barksdale arrived at the home and found evidence that the house was lived in or visited frequently, he would have had reason to be alarmed by Alston's assertions. In this case, there was no evidence to contradict Alston's statements.

Third, the nature of the items removed from Rone's house were old, basic household items. Some of these items included a metal detector, food processor and an electric filet knife. The wiring was also removed from deep freezer and refrigerator. The nature and condition of these items would suggest to Barksdale that they had not been utilized in a very long time. This would support Alston's statements that he had been granted permission to remove the seemingly unused items from the home.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Barksdale simply went to assist a friend in moving property and, as a result, he was convicted on two counts of burglary. The State did not sufficiently prove the requisite elements of burglary and Barksdale requests that this honorable Court reverse and render this case. In the alternative, Barksdale requests that this Court reverse and remand this case to the trial court for a new trial.