IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAEL D. BARKSDALE

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-1847-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

**BY: BILLY L. GORE
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
POST OFFICE BOX 220
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this appeal involving the burglary of a building not a dwelling, Barksdale assails both the sufficiency and the weight of the evidence.

He claims the evidence was insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Barksdale entered the building *with the burglarious intent to steal*. Barksdale argued at trial, and argues on appeal as well, that the evidence established that Barksdale had reasonable grounds to believe that Jermaine Alston had a working relationship with Doyle Rone and that Rone had given Alston permission to be on his property. (Brief of the Appellant at 5-6, 8)

We respectfully submit the intent sufficient to support Barksdale's conviction of burglary was supplied by the very fact the defendant and his companions committed larceny while inside the house. **Wright v. State**, 540 So.2d 1 (Miss. 1989).

Even if not, Barksdale's intent was a question for the jury which was resolved adversely to Barksdale's claim of innocence.

First, Mr. Rone never granted to any of the three(3) men permission to enter the house and remove some of its contents. (R. 69-74)

Second, a reasonable and fair-minded juror could infer an intent to steal from the acts and conduct of Barksdale and the two other men acting in concert with him. They include the following:

(1) Removal of several of the items by Barksdale himself; (2) Snipping and stripping wires - apparently for their copper content - from a deep freeze, refrigerator, the attic, and several breaker boxes; (3) Barksdale himself is actually depicted in a photograph - exhibit 11 - carrying a small metal detector (R. 84); (4) a division of the loot may be inferred from Brown's concealment of several of the stolen items in the woods across the street from his house after agreeing to talk to Investigator Blakely; (5) Barksdale never told Blakely he thought he had permission to enter and remove; rather,

that defense was raised at trial for the first time; (6) the vehicle used by the three (3) men was parked at the rear of the house out of sight of the main road; (7) there is testimony suggesting the men covered their hands by pulling down their shirt sleeves prior to opening and closing doors. State's exhibits 7 and 11 clearly depict the hands of Alston in this posture.

The jury was entitled to consider the acts and conduct of the three men collectively in determining their intent. The snipping and stripping of copper wiring from the attic, from certain appliances, and from the breaker boxes is not consistent with the idea the presence of the three men acting in concert was innocent.

All proof need not be direct and a juror may draw any reasonable inferences from all the evidence in the case. **Campbell v. State**, 278 So.2d 420 (Miss. 1973); **McLelland v. State**, 204 So.2d 158 (Miss. 1967). Stated somewhat differently, the jury, as fact finder, is entitled to consider not only facts testified to by witnesses but all inferences that may be fairly, reasonably, and logically deduced from the facts in evidence. **Pryor v. State**, 349 So.2d 1063 (Miss. 1977).

The testimony of Mr. Rone reflects quite clearly he did not give his consent for Barksdale or for anyone else to enter the building and remove its contents. (R. 69, 71)

Judge Waller's opinion in **Bush v. State**, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (§§16, 17) (Miss. 2005), makes it perfectly clear that in resolving sufficiency of the evidence issues the evidence must be viewed and considered in the light most favorable to the State's theory of the case.

Based upon the testimony of Investigator Randy Blakely and Doyle Dean Rone “. . . any rational juror could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that all of the elements had been met by the State in proving [the crime charged.]” **Bush v. State**, *supra*, 895 So.2d at 844.

“The State seldom has direct and positive testimony expressly showing the specific intent of an intruder at the time he unlawfully breaks into a dwelling; however, such testimony is not essential

to establish the intent to commit a crime.” **Newburn v. State**, 205 So.2d 260, 265 (Miss. 1967). *See also Williams v. State*, 317 So.2d 425, 427 (Miss. 1975) [“The issue of felonious intent is one of fact, and its determination is therefore within the exclusive province of the jury, under appropriate instructions from the court.”]; **Ryals v. State**, 305 So.2d 354, 355 (Miss. 1974) [“(I)ntent may be determined from the acts of the accused and his conduct and . . . inferences of guilt may be fairly deducible from all the circumstances.”]; **Shanklin v. State**, 290 So.2d 625, 627 (1974) [“Intent to do an act or commit a crime is also a question of fact to be gleaned by the jury from the facts shown in each case.”]

Whether Barksdale intended to steal was a question for the jury who decided the issue adversely to Barksdale’s defense of permission to enter and remove. *Cf. Fulgham v. State*, 12 So.3d 558 (Ct.App.Miss. 2009); **Riley v. State**, 11 So.3d 751 (Ct.App.Miss. 2008); reh denied, cert dismissed as improvidently granted)

Moreover, the jury’s verdict was not against the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence which does not preponderate in favor of Barksdale’s claim he did nothing more than do what he thought he had permission to do.

In reviewing a claim the verdict of the jury is contrary to the weight of the evidence, this Court, sitting as a thirteenth juror, is duty bound to weigh the evidence in the light most favorable to the guilty verdict. **Bush v. State**, *supra*, 895 So.2d. at 844-45.

“[T]he scope of review on this issue is limited in that all evidence must be construed in the light most favorable to the verdict.” **Herring v. State**, 691 So.2d at 957 citing **Mitchell v. State**, 572 So.2d 865, 867 (Miss. 1990).

This Court will not set aside a guilty verdict unless the verdict is manifestly against the weight of credible evidence [**Maiben v. State**, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981)] and unless this Court

is convinced that to allow the verdict to stand, would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice.

Groseclose v. State, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983).

The case at bar certainly does not exist in this posture. This is not a case where the evidence preponderates heavily, if at all, against the verdict(s) or where allowing the verdict(s) to stand would sanction or amount to an unconscionable injustice.

ARGUMENT

ANY RATIONAL TRIER OF FACT COULD HAVE FOUND BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT BARKSDALE BROKE AND ENTERED THE HOUSE WITH THE FELONIOUS INTENT TO STEAL.

BARKSDALE HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THE TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS BROAD JUDICIAL DISCRETION IN OVERRULING BARKSDALE'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL GROUNDED, IN PART, ON A CLAIM THE JURY VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

NO UNCONSCIONABLE INJUSTICE EXISTS HERE.

At trial all litigants agreed that “[t]he only thing that is in dispute today is [the defendants’s] intent.” (R. 157, 163, 167) The jury, as was its *exclusive* prerogative, decided that issue adversely to the defendant’s position.

The issue on appeal is the same.

Barksdale, in a nutshell, contends there was insufficient evidence from which a reasonable, fair-minded juror could find, either directly or by reasonable inference, that Barksdale entered the building with the required intent to steal. (Brief of the Appellant at 5-6)

He also opines for the same reason he is entitled to a new trial because the first trial resulted in an unconscionable injustice.

We disagree.

Sufficiency of the Evidence.

“In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, as opposed to its weight, “. . . all evidence supporting the guilty verdict is accepted as true, and the State must be given the benefit of all reasonable inferences that can be reasonably drawn from the evidence.” **Jiles v. State**, 962 So.2d 604, 605 (¶ 5)(Ct.App.Miss. 2006). *See also* **McDowell v. State**, 813 So.2d 694, 697 (¶8) (Miss. 2002).

“[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” **Bush v. State**, *supra*, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (¶16) (Miss. 2005), quoting from **Jackson v. Virginia**, 443 U.S. 307, 315, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979).

“Should the facts and inferences considered in a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence ‘point in favor of the defendant on any element of the offense with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty,’ the proper remedy is for the appellate court to reverse and render.” **Bush v. State**, *supra*, 895 So.2d at 843 citing, *inter alia*, **Edwards v. State**, 469 So.2d 68, 70 (Miss. 1985).

The indictment alleged Barksdale, either individually or while acting in concert with others, entered the building “. . . with the wilful, unlawful, felonious and burglarious intent to steal the goods, *et cetera*, kept therein . . .” (C.P. at 1) The jury was properly instructed on this issue. (C.P. at 44)

The crime of burglary consists of two essential elements: (1) the burglarious breaking and entering of a house or building described in the statute, and (2) the felonious intent to commit some crime therein. **Newburn v. State**, *supra*, 205 So.2d 260 (Miss. 1967). *See also* **Beale v. State**, 2 So.3d 693 (Ct.App.Miss. 2008), reh denied, cert denied 999 So.2d 1280 (2009).

In the case at bar the intent crime is theft, i.e., larceny.

Clearly the evidence in this case demonstrates a lack of consent or permission to enter and take, and supports a finding of an intent to steal.

The evidence from which a reasonable and fair-minded juror could find an intent to steal was fully and fairly summarized by the State prosecutor during his closing argument. We rely on those same facts here in support of our position the evidence was more than ample to support the requisite finding of intent.

[BY MR. WHITFIELD:] * * * The only thing that is in dispute today is their intent. What did they intend to do when they went out to the house. Now you have heard [the] Defense make numerous comments to the fact that well, we thought we had permission. But if you look at the evidence, that is not what the evidence shows. The evidence shows they went out there with the intent to steal Mr. Rone's property. They took the air conditioner. They took the saddle. They took a metal detector. They stripped wires out of the attic. They cut wires off of his refrigerator. They cut wires off of his deep freeze. A food processor was taken, and all this is seen in the pictures. We got some of the property back. Mr. Brown had property hidden in the woods of his house.

If he thought he had permission, why is it in the woods? Or for that fact, you have heard the testimony of Deputy Blakely. When he went and talked to them about the crime, they didn't say, "Whoa, whoa, whoa. We made a mistake. We had permission." That was never mentioned. Now after the fact, they come to court and say it was a mistake. (R. 157-58)

* * * * *

In Exhibit 1, where [Brown] is out walking in the yard rolling up the wire, you see the white mark on his sleeve, and it is way back here on his wrist. As he is going into the door, you can see his hand on the screen door, and I know it's real hard to see because you are kind of looking around a corner, but if you look real close like we had it zoomed up, you will see the white mark on here by his hand.

Why cover your hand if you have permission? * * * (R. 158)

* * * * *

Another thing you're going to see from the pictures, and you will see this on both days that they went out there. You have got your pictures from the 14th and 15th. If they had permission, why hide the car behind the house where nobody can see it from the road. They are parked behind the house. You can see the vehicle parked back here.

You also heard the testimony of Mr. Rone that he didn't know these guys, and he didn't give them any permission to go to his house and take his stuff.

And you see as they walk in, in this particular picture he has got his hands covered. If they are of the belief that he had permission to go in the house, like I said, why cover your hands?

Mr. Barksdale and Mr. Brown, you will see from these pictures, were both involved. They are both assisting in carrying out goods. In this picture, you will see they are carrying the air conditioner and the wire. Mr. Brown is helping carry the air conditioner, and Mr. Barksdale is carrying the wire. So you can see from their actions that everybody is involved in this enterprise of going out to this house and stealing Mr. Rone's property. (R. 157-59)

* * * * *

So when you look at the actions of the Defendants as a whole, all of them acting in covert together, there is no other conclusion other than the fact that they went out there with the intent to steal this property, and the State has met its burden of showing this beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. 160)

We wholeheartedly concur.

Additional argument by the prosecutor likewise placing the issue of intent squarely in the lap of the fact finder is quoted as follows:

With the intent to take, steal and carry away the intent to take, steal and carry away - - that's what [the defendants] are going to get up and talk a lot about. What was their intent? Well, you have to look at their actions to see what their intent was. You have to see that they were parked behind the house. You have to see that they tried to conceal their fingerprints by covering their hands as they went in and out. You have to see that when they took the property home, he

didn't take it home. He took it and hid it in the woods. When the deputies questioned [Barksdale] about the crime, they didn't say, oh, we had permission. That was their chance. They didn't say we had permission. (R. 161)

We summarize.

After parking their car behind the building out of sight of the main road, Barksdale and his accomplices took, *inter alia*, a window air conditioner, a saddle, a metal detector, and a food processor. (R. 68) Some of these items were later found hidden in the woods across the street from Brown's property.

Barksdale and his accomplices stripped the wiring out of the attic as well as the breaker boxes (R. 179) and cut, snipped, and stripped the wiring connected to a refrigerator and a deep freeze. (R. 68-69) The thieves even cut the cords off of the lamps. (R. 69) Mr. Rone was unable to repair the refrigerator which he "... took to the scrap metal pile, and I got twelve dollars for it." (R. 74)

A reasonable and fair-minded juror could have found all this inconsistent with the idea that Rone had given permission to Alston to cut, roll, and remove wires and cords from lamps and appliances presumably for their copper content.

The defense of "permission" was never mentioned to Deputy Blakely who interviewed both Brown and Barksdale; rather, it was raised at trial for the first time. Neither Brown nor Barksdale ever told Deputy Blakely during his interviews they thought they had permission to enter the building and remove its contents. (R. 91) We quote:

Q. [BY PROSECUTOR HOWIE]: When you were questioning Brown and Barksdale, did either of them tell you that they had permission to be in that house?

A. No sir.

Barksdale's defense, as told to Deputy Blakely prior to trial, was that they did not break into the house because the doors were already open. (R. 83)

Brown, who came to the station house voluntarily, declined to make a formal statement after being advised of his constitutional rights. (R. 85-86) He did, however, tell Blakely "... that some of the items that were stolen were located in a wooded area at his residence across the road from his home." (R. 87) When Blakely was unable to locate the stolen items, Brown himself "went to the wooded area, recovered the stolen items or some of the stolen items, and [Blakely] recovered them from him." (R. 87-88) The items recovered from Brown were the metal detector, the food processor, and an electric filet knife. (R. 88)

A reasonable and fair-minded juror could have found the concealment of the articles in the woods - a consciousness of guilt, if you please - especially incriminating with respect to the issue of Brown's, as well as Barksdale's, intent. This fact, standing alone, would support a conviction for burglary with an intent to steal.

Relevant testimony elicited from Investigator Blakely is quoted as follows:

Q. [BY PROSECUTOR HOWIE:] Did [Brown] ever admit to you that he stole anything?

A. He just told me that the items that were stolen were in the woods at his house.

Q. He said "the items that were stolen?" Those are his exact words?

A. I don't know if those were his exact words but - -

Q. Did he say, "The items are at my house?"

A. He told me the things that we were looking for were in the woods across the road from his house. (R. 105)

There is some testimony that Brown appears in a photograph to have pulled his right sleeve

over the top of his hand as he grabs a door handle. (R. 88-89, 101-02, 106-07) The same holds true for Alston in exhibits 7 and 11. Blakely testified “[i]t would be my opinion that he did that not to leave fingerprints.” (R. 88-89) Such was a matter for the jury’s perception.

Finally, Jermaine Alston, the no-show, never said to Blakely he had permission to enter the house and, according to Blakely, Alston actually apologized through Blakely “. . . for doing what he had done.” (R. 108) It is clear from the photographs introduced as exhibits 7 and 11 that Alston had his shirt pulled down over his hand. (R. 101)

In judging the legal sufficiency, as opposed to the weight, of the evidence on a motion for a directed verdict or request for peremptory instruction or motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the trial judge is required to accept as true all of the evidence that is favorable to the State, including all reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom, and to *disregard* evidence favorable to the defendant. **Anderson v. State**, 904 So.2d 973 (Miss. 2004), reh denied; **Lynch v. State**, 877 So.2d 1254 (Miss. 2004), reh denied, cert denied 125 S.Ct. 1299, 543 U.S. 1155, 161 L.Ed.2d 122 (2004); **Hubbard v. State**, 819 So.2d 1192 (Miss. 2001), reh denied; **Yates v. State**, 685 So.2d 715, 718 (Miss. 1996); **Ellis v. State**, 667 So.2d 599, 612 (Miss. 1995); **Clemons v. State**, 460 So.2d 835 (Miss. 1984); **Forbes v. State**, 437 So.2d 59 (Miss. 1983); **Bullock v. State**, 391 So.2d 601 (Miss. 1980). *See also Jones v. State*, 904 So.2d 149, 153-54 (Miss. 2005) [“The relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.”]

The jury was properly instructed with respect to the issue of intent. *See* jury instruction 2 (S-1) which required the jury to find, *inter alia*, that the breaking and entry was done“. . . with the

intent to take, steal and carry away any of the property of the said Dean Rone located in said house.
..” (C.P. at 44)

Needless to say, the jury, as was its exclusive prerogative, resolved this issue in favor of the State.

By denying Barksdale’s motion for a directed verdict (R. 109), his request for peremptory instruction (C.P. at 61), and Barksdale’s motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (C.P. at 69-71), Judge Morgan correctly held the question of Barksdale’s intent was a jury issue.

Barksdale cites to the right cases addressing the standard of review but, in our opinion, reaches the wrong conclusion.

In **Newburn v. State**, 205 So.2d 260, 265 (Miss. 1967), this Court stated:

“Intent is a state of mind existing at the time a person commits an offense. If intent required definite and substantive proof, it would be almost impossible to convict, absent facts disclosing a culmination of the intent. The mind of an alleged offender, however, may be read from his acts, conduct, and inferences fairly deducible from all the circumstances.”

In **Shanklin v. State**, 290 So.2d 625, 627 (Miss. 1974), this Court further opined:

Intent to do an act or commit a crime is also a question of fact to be gleaned by the jury from the facts shown in each case. The intent to commit a crime or to do an act by a free agent can be determined only by the act itself, surrounding circumstances, and expressions made by the actor with reference to his intent. [citations omitted]

See also **Chambliss v. State**, 919 So.2d 30, 35 (Miss. 2005) citing **Shanklin v. State**, *supra*; **Knox v. State**, 805 So.2d 527 (Miss. 2002) [Intent to do an act or commit a crime is a question of fact to be gleaned by the jury from the facts shown in each case.]

Here Barksdale’s intent could be read from his acts, conduct, and inferences fairly deducible

from the surrounding circumstances, including the acts and conduct of the other two co-indictees.

It was a jury issue by virtue of jury instruction number 2 (S-1) which instructed the jury in plain and ordinary English it had to find an intent to steal in order to convict.(C.P. at 44)

Judge Waller's opinion in **Bush v. State**, *supra*, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (¶¶16,17) (Miss. 2005), makes it perfectly clear that in resolving sufficiency of the evidence issues the evidence must be viewed and considered in the light most favorable to the State's theory of the case. We quote:

In *Carr v. State*, 208 So.2d 886, 889 (Miss. 1968), we stated that in considering whether the evidence is sufficient to sustain a conviction in the face of a motion for directed verdict or for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the critical inquiry is whether the evidence shows "beyond a reasonable doubt that accused committed the act charged, and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed; and where the evidence fails to meet this test it is insufficient to support a conviction." **However, this inquiry does not require a court to**

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